The Role of Environment and Lifestyle in Determining the Risk of Multiple Sclerosis

Anna Karin Hedström, Tomas Olsson and Lars Alfredsson

Abstract MS is a complex disease where both genetic and environmental factors contribute to disease susceptibility. The substantially increased risk of developing MS in relatives of affected individuals gives solid evidence for a genetic base for susceptibility, whereas the modest familial risk, most strikingly demonstrated in the twin studies, is a very strong argument for an important role of lifestyle/environmental factors in determining the risk of MS, sometimes interacting with MS risk genes. Lifestyle factors and environmental exposures are harder to accurately study and quantify than genetic factors. However, it is important to identify these factors since they, as opposed to risk genes, are potentially preventable. We have reviewed the evidence for environmental factors that have been repeatedly shown to influence the risk of MS: Epstein–Barr virus (EBV) infection, ultraviolet radiation (UVR) exposure habits/vitamin D status, and smoking. We have also reviewed a number of additional environmental factors, published in the past 5 years, that have been described to influence MS risk. Independent replication, preferably by a variety of methods, may give still more firm evidence for their involvement.

Keywords Multiple sclerosis • Gene–environment interactions • Smoking • Epstein–Barr virus • Vitamin D • Obesity

Contents

1	Introduction	88
2	Epstein–Barr virus infection	89
3	UVB Exposure/Vitamin D Status	90
	Smoking	

A.K. Hedström (🖂) · L. Alfredsson

Institute of Environmental Medicine, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden e-mail: anna.hedstrom@ki.se

T. Olsson

Department of Clinical Neurosciences, Neuroimmunology Unit, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015 Curr Topics Behav Neurosci (2015) 26: 87–104 DOI 10.1007/7854_2015_372 Published Online: 24 February 2015

Passive Smoking	92
Snuff Use	93
Alcohol Consumption	93
Adolescent Body Mass Index	94
Shift Work	94
Exposure to Organic Solvents	95
Cytomegalovirus	95
Pregnancy and Reproductive History	96
Gene-Environment Interactions	96
Conclusions	98
ferences	98
	Alcohol Consumption

1 Introduction

Numerous epidemiological studies have shown that MS is a complex disease where both genetic and environmental factors contribute to disease susceptibility. For monozygotic twins, the concordance rate is around 30 %, whereas it is approximately 7 % for dizygotic twins (Ebers 2008). Recent population-based studies give more certain and even lower figures, with age-adjusted concordance rates of ~17 % for monozygotic twins, as opposed to ~2 % for dizygotic twins and siblings in general (Westerlind et al. 2014). The substantially increased risk of developing MS in relatives of affected individuals gives solid evidence for a genetic base for susceptibility, whereas the modest familial risk, most strikingly demonstrated in the twin studies, is a very strong argument for an important role of lifestyle/environmental factors in determining the risk of MS, sometimes interacting with MS risk genes.

Migration studies have shown that when people move from a high to a low risk area in childhood, this reduces the risk of MS to an intermediate between that of their birth country and that of their final residence. Migration in the opposite direction does not consistently increase the risk of MS until the next generation whose risk is close to that of their birthplace (Ascherio and Munger 2007a; Gale and Martyn 1995). These data suggest that environmental exposures during childhood and adolescence are of essential importance for disease risk.

Lifestyle factors and environmental exposures are harder to accurately study and quantify than genetic factors. However, it is important to identify these factors since they, as opposed to risk genes, are potentially preventable. We have reviewed the evidence for environmental factors that have been repeatedly shown to influence the risk of MS: Epstein–Barr virus (EBV) infection, ultraviolet radiation (UVR) exposure habits/vitamin D status, and smoking. We have also reviewed a number of additional environmental factors, published in the past 5 years, that have been described to influence MS risk. Independent replication, preferably by a variety of methods, may give still more firm evidence for their involvement.

Since we believe that environmental factors should not be studied in isolation from genetics, we here give a short summary of the current status of the MS genetics. As in most autoimmune/inflammatory disorders, the strongest genetic associations with MS are located within the human leukocyte antigen (HLA) complex. The class II allele HLA-DRB1*15 increases the risk of developing MS in almost all populations, with an odds ratio (OR) around 3 (Lincoln et al. 2005), whereas the class I allele HLA-A*02 has a protective effect with an OR of approximately 0.7 (Bergamaschi et al. 2010; Brynedal et al. 2007; Burfoot et al. 2008). Over recent years, genome-wide association studies (GWAS) have identified a large number of genetic regions outside the HLA complex that influence disease susceptibility. These studies have at this moment unequivocally associated over a 100 susceptibility loci (International Multiple Sclerosis Genetics Consortium 2013; International Multiple Sclerosis Genetics Consortium and Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium 2 2011). The non-HLA loci have a smaller impact on MS risk with ORs in the order of 1.2. A main motif for finding all these loci is to provide a basis for defining central pathogenic pathways, in turn giving a basis for definition of new therapeutic targets, as well as biomarkers. Despite the large numbers of gene loci now reported, they only explain a fraction of the heritability. One out of several potential reasons for the missing heritability is interactions between risk genes and lifestyle/environmental factors, giving a further motif for the study of the latter as accurately as possible.

2 Epstein–Barr virus infection

There is a strong association between EBV and MS risk, but whether this demonstrates a causal relationship is being debated. EBV infection is usually asymptomatic in childhood, and in countries where MS is rare, early infection with EBV is almost universal. However, in countries where primary infection is delayed beyond the early years of childhood and the infection more commonly results in infectious mononucleosis (IM), the prevalence of MS is high. Several studies have examined the association between IM and MS, with consistent results. People who have had IM have a 2.3-fold increased risk of developing MS compared to those who were infected during childhood, whereas people who remain uninfected with EBV have an extremely low risk of developing the disease (Handel et al. 2010; Levin et al. 2010; Thacker et al. 2006). A meta-analysis of eight published studies found that the overall OR for MS was 13.5 (95 % 6.3–31.4) when comparing EBV-seropositive and EBV-seronegative people (Ascherio et al. 2001).

By measuring anti-EBV titers before and after MS onset in 305 cases, Levin et al. (2010) demonstrated that 100 % of MS cases who were initially EBV seronegative had seroconverted prior to MS onset. Several studies have observed a significant increase in antibody titers many years prior to MS onset (Ascherio et al. 2001; DeLorenze et al. 2006; Sundström et al. 2004). Nielsen et al. (2007) found that the increased risk following IM is independent of age, gender, and infection severity and may persist for decades. The consistent findings that EBV infection and elevation of

anti-EBNA (Epstein–Barr virus nuclear antigen) antibody titers precedes MS onset suggest that EBV is likely to be a causal factor of MS development.

In similarity to MS, IM has a latitudinal gradient seen across developed countries. Furthermore, a meta-analysis found a significant latitudinal gradient of EBV seroprevalence that was independent of age, gender, and MS status (Disanto et al. 2013a, b). The variation in the occurrence of IM suggests that UVB radiation/ vitamin D status or other factors with a similar latitudinal and seasonal variation influence the risk of primary EBV infection or the subsequent immune response leading to IM. However, IM at any season is associated with MS and the association is not stronger among those reporting a history of IM in spring when vitamin D levels reach nadir (Lossius et al. 2014). It is currently unclear whether EBV is independently associated to MS or whether some other factor predisposes to both EBV infection and MS. Neither can it be completely ruled out that a dysregulated immunological response to EBV infection may be a consequence of the underlying pathophysiology of MS.

3 UVB Exposure/Vitamin D Status

Both the incidence and prevalence of MS increase with the distance from the equator. Latitudinal gradients have been identified throughout the world including Europe, North America, Australia, and New Zealand (Koch-Henriksen and Sorensen 2010). It has been suggested that this latitude-dependent gradient in MS occurrence is caused by less exposure to sunlight/decreased levels of vitamin D (Simpson et al. 2011).

There is evidence suggesting that frequent exposure to UVR confers a protective effect against developing MS (Islam et al. 2007; Kampman et al. 2007; van der Mei et al. 2003), and vitamin D has been proposed to be the major mediator of this protective effect (Ascherio and Munger 2007b; Smolders et al. 2008). The intensity of UVR exposure varies with latitude and season, and lower intensity of UVR in winter may be insufficient to support vitamin D synthesis in some locations (O'Gorman et al. 2012). Vitamin D is involved in the regulation of the immune system by binding to vitamin D response elements in the regulatory region of immune genes (Disanto et al. 2012; Ramagopalan et al. 2010). Furthermore, in several GWAS and candidate studies, an association has been observed between MS risk and markers in the CYP27B1 and CYP24A1 regions (Australia and New Zealand Multiple Sclerosis Genetics Consortium 2012; Sundqvist et al. 2010), the latter coding for an enzyme involved in vitamin D metabolism.

However, low levels of UVR exposure may have an independent effect on MS risk (Becklund et al. 2010), suggesting that the association between UVR exposure and MS risk cannot be fully explained by vitamin D-mediated mechanisms. A population-based case–control study further supports the hypothesis that UVR exposure contributes to decreasing MS risk independently of its effects on vitamin D levels (Bäärnhielm et al. 2012). Adjusting for 25(OH)D regarded as a mediator of the

protective effect of UVR only marginally changed the estimated association between UVR exposure and MS. There are a number of pathways whereby UVR may affect immune functions that are independent of vitamin D production (Mehta 2010). UVB appears to upregulate the secretion of TNF-a, IL-10, and regulatory T cells (Lucas and Ponsonby 2006), and UVA radiation has a complex dose-related immuno-modulating effect where the underlying mechanism is not fully investigated. In EAE studies, UVB exposure influenced systemic immune reactions and attenuated systemic autoimmunity via the induction of skin-derived tolerogenic dendritic cells and regulatory T cells (Breuer et al. 2014). Vitamin D status may thus not be the only mediator of a latitude effect related to exposure to UV radiation.

An additional item discussed in the context of UVR/vitamin D is when insufficient exposure exerts its effect on the risk for MS, and if there is an interaction with MS predisposing genes. There are observations of a "month of birth effect." Several reports claim that children born in the spring on the Northern Hemisphere would run an increased MS risk later in life (Burrell et al. 2011; Willer et al. 2005), perhaps through epigenetic mechanisms, refuted by others (Fiddes et al. 2013). In our own studies of vitamin D in newborns later developing MS, there was no difference in vitamin D levels in individuals later developing MS compared to matched controls (Ueda et al. 2014). An action during adolescence might be more probable. In an experimental model for MS, there were striking effects in adolescent rats, but not during pregnancy or in adult rats (Adzemovic et al. 2013). An interaction with the HLA locus has been suggested (Handunnetthi et al. 2010). However, we found no such interaction in our case–control cohort (Bäärnhielm et al. 2012).

4 Smoking

The first detected association between smoking and MS risk was reported in the 1960s (Antonovsky et al. 1965). However, other studies found no impact of smoking on MS risk (Simpson et al. 1966). In the 1990s, smoking was found to be associated with MS risk in two prospective cohort studies (Villard-Mackintosh and Vessey 1993). Several studies investigating the link between smoking and MS susceptibility have been published during the last decade and almost all have detected a significant detrimental effect (Ghadirian et al. 2001; Hedström et al. 2009; Hernan et al. 2001; Pekmezovic et al. 2006; Riise et al. 2003). A pooled analysis of previous studies on smoking and MS risk rendered an OR of 1.5 (95 % CI 1.3–1.7). In a study using banked blood samples, Sundström et al. (2008) found that cotinine levels, indicating recent exposure to tobacco smoke, were increased in MS cases compared with controls. There is also evidence of a dose–response correlation between cumulative dose of smoking and the risk of developing the disease (Ghadirian et al. 2001; Hedström et al. 2009). Both duration and intensity of smoking seem to contribute independently to the risk of MS (Hedström et al. 2013a).

Both family studies and migration studies suggest that the influence of environmental factors contributes to MS at different age periods. Some aspects of adolescence thus seem to be critical regarding the impact of several environmental factors on MS risk. Smoking, on the contrary, seems to affect MS risk regardless of age at exposure, and the detrimental effect abates a decade after smoking cessation regardless of the timing of smoking and regardless of the cumulative dose of smoking (Hedström et al. 2013a).

The molecular pathways responsible for the association between smoking and MS are not yet known, but several plausible hypotheses regarding the mechanism have been put forward. Both humoral and cell-mediated immunity are affected by smoking (Moszczynski et al. 2001), and smokers have increased levels of important markers of inflammation in autoimmune disease such as C-reactive protein and Interleukin-6 (Bermudez et al. 2002). Serum concentrations of cyanide are strongly correlated with the level of tobacco consumption, and chronic cyanide intoxication may lead to widespread demyelination (Freeman 1988; van Houten and Friede 1961). Some evidence points to a potential role of the free radical nitric oxide. Exposure to nitric oxide has been shown to cause axonal degeneration or block axonal conduction (Redford et al. 1997; Smith et al. 2001). Another possible mechanism linking smoking to MS susceptibility involves irritative events in the lungs creating autoimmunity against proteins with posttranslational modifications that are cross-reactive with CNS antigens with activation of CNS autoaggressive T cells. The absence of risk increase, rather than the opposite, by oral tobacco use (see below) argues that the main effect of tobacco is mediated in the lungs. Exposure to tobacco smoke results in increased pro-inflammatory cell activation in the lungs and posttranslational modifications of proteins (Makrygiannakis et al. 2008), which may break self-tolerance (Cloos and Christgau 2004; Doyle and Mamula 2002). Autoimmune memory cells are present and available for triggering in the lungs. In EAE studies, these cells strongly proliferate after local stimulation of the lungs and, after assuming migratory properties, reach the CNS with inflammation as a consequence (Odoardi et al. 2012). Finally, smoking or long-term exposure to smoke may increase the risk of MS by increasing the frequency and persistence of respiratory infections.

5 Passive Smoking

Data have been inconsistent regarding the influence of passive smoking. A French case–control study found an association between exposure to parental smoking at home and early onset MS (Mikaeloff et al. 2007). The risk increased with longer duration of exposure. However, no effect of maternal smoking during pregnancy on MS risk in offspring has been observed (Montgomery et al. 2008; Ramagopalan et al. 2013). In the study by Montgomery et al. (2008), information regarding maternal smoking during pregnancy was recorded prospectively, thus eliminating the problems associated with differential reporting bias. However, many women who smoke during pregnancy incorrectly report themselves as non-smokers (Lawrence et al. 2003; Lindqvist et al. 2002). Furthermore, maternal smoking during pregnancy may not be a sufficiently sensitive measure of later parental smoking at home.

In a Swedish case–control study, the incidence of MS among never-smokers who had been exposed to passive smoking was higher than among those who had never been exposed (OR 1.3, 95 % CI 1.1–1.6) (Hedström et al. 2011b). The risk increased with longer duration of exposure. The association between passive smoking and MS risk suggests that also lower degrees of lung irritation may contribute to the triggering of MS. Further studies would be valuable in order to investigate the impact of other forms of lung irritation, such as air pollution, in the etiology of MS.

6 Snuff Use

The use of moist snuff often leads to exposure to high doses of nicotine. Only two studies, both from Sweden, have investigated the effect of moist snuff on the incidence of MS with disparate results (Carlens et al. 2010; Hedström et al. 2009). One of them is a recently published cohort study of male construction workers, no overall effect was observed with respect to use of moist snuff (Carlens et al. 2010). However, the study had a long follow-up period which means that observed relative risks may be biased toward the null value. The other Swedish study found a decreased risk of developing MS among snuff users compared with those who have never used moist snuff, and there was evidence of an inverse dose–response relationship between cumulative dose of snuff use and the risk of developing the disease (Hedström et al. 2009).

Moist snuff contains a number of different substances apart from nicotine, and any of them could theoretically be involved in the protective effect. However, nicotine stands out as the main candidate in view of numerous studies on its immunomodulatory effects. Nicotine may exert systemic effects on the immune system by inhibiting the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines from immune cells, such as macrophages, via the alpha7 subunit of the acetylcholine nicotinic receptor (Nizri et al. 2009; Ulloa 2005). Since MS is most likely driven by systemic immune responses targeted at the CNS, there is a theoretical possibility that nicotine dampens this response by acting immunomodulatory, consistent with the apparent lower incidence in long-term snuff-takers.

7 Alcohol Consumption

The impact of alcohol, which may directly suppress various immune responses (Romeo et al. 2007), on the risk of developing MS, has been investigated in several case–control studies (Brosseau et al. 1993; Hedström et al. 2014a; Pekmezovic et al. 2006,) and one prospective study (Massa et al. 2013). The results were inconsistent. However, frequently, case numbers have been small (Brosseau et al. 1993; Massa et al. 2013; Pekmezovic et al. 2006) and some of the studies were subject to methodological limitations (Brosseau et al. 1993; Pekmezovic et al. 2006).

According to observations in two Swedish population-based case-control studies, alcohol consumption exhibits a dose-dependent inverse association with MS (Hedström et al. 2014a). The findings differ from those based on the prospective Nurses' Health Study (NHS) (Massa et al. 2013). However, in the NHS, the power to identify an OR in the order of 0.8, as observed by the Swedish studies, was low. It is thus possible that a protective effect of alcohol on MS risk went unnoticed in the NHS due to limited case numbers. This effect would not be unique for MS, but is well established in other inflammatory diseases, such as rheumatoid arthritis (Källberg et al. 2009).

While the exact mechanisms by which alcohol affects the risk of autoimmunity remain to be discovered, experimental and clinical data suggest that alcohol has significant dose-dependent immunomodulatory properties (Goral et al. 2008).

8 Adolescent Body Mass Index

The relationship between obesity during adolescence and MS risk has been investigated using two large cohorts of American women in which obese female adolescents displayed an increased risk of developing MS (Munger et al. 2009). Adult obesity was not associated with MS risk. The findings were replicated in a Swedish population-based case–control study and the association was extended to include males (Hedström et al. 2012). A higher BMI during childhood has also been associated with increased MS risk later in life (Munger et al. 2013). However, body size has been reported to be correlated over the life course (Munger et al. 2009) and when the most critical period occurs is currently unknown.

The molecular pathways behind the association between adolescent obesity and MS may involve fat-related chronic inflammation. By increasing the production and release of pro-inflammatory cytokines and promoting Th1 responses, and decreasing the number of regulatory T cells (Lumeng et al. 2007; Matarese et al. 2008; Subramanian and Ferrante 2009), obesity may increase the risk of recruitment of autoimmune CD4+ cells that target CNS autoantigens. Furthermore, obese people have lower levels of vitamin D metabolites as compared to those of normal weight and decreased levels of serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D appear to increase MS risk (Worstman et al. 2000).

9 Shift Work

Shift work results in circadian disruption (Arendt 2010) and sleep restriction (Bollinger et al. 2010), and mounting evidence indicates that shift work is associated with a wide variety of adverse health consequences. The impact of shift work on MS risk has been investigated in one incident and one prevalent case–control study (Hedström et al. 2011a). In both studies, a statistically significant association between working shift at a young age and occurrence of MS was observed (OR 1.6,

95 % CI 1.2–2.1 in the incidence study, and OR 1.3, 95 % CI 1.0–1.6 in the prevalence study). Circadian disruption and sleep restriction are associated with disturbed melatonin secretion and enhanced pro-inflammatory responses and may be part of the mechanism behind the association.

10 Exposure to Organic Solvents

Exposure to organic solvents has been observed to be associated with increased risk of MS in some studies, but not in others. A recent review and meta-analysis concluded that exposure to organic solvents is a risk factor for developing autoimmune disease in general (Barragán-Martínez et al. 2012). Each autoimmune disease was also considered separately and a significant association was observed between exposure to organic solvents and increased MS risk. Based on 15 studies published between 1994 and 2012, the OR of developing MS was 1.53 (95 % CI 1.03–2.29) among subjects exposed to organic solvents. Several biological models could explain how organic solvents affect susceptibility to MS, such as altering the impermeability of the blood-brain barrier (Kim et al. 2011). Accumulating evidence also suggests that chronic exposure to organic solvents can induce oxidative stress-mediated inflammatory responses (Feltens et al. 2010; Mögel et al. 2011). Furthermore, organic solvents, such as trichloroethene, induce lipid peroxidation which is implicated in the pathogenesis of various autoimmune diseases. Trichloroethene-reactive metabolites bind to endogenous proteins to form protein adducts (Cai et al. 2008) and the modified self-proteins may become immunogenic and induce autoimmune responses (Odoardi et al. 2012; Wang et al. 2008).

It has also been hypothesized that exposure to anesthetic agents, some of which are chemically related to organic solvents, may affect the risk of developing MS. The relationship between anesthetic agents and risk of developing MS has been investigated in several studies (Flodin et al. 2003; Hedström et al. 2013b; Landtblom et al. 2006; Stenager et al. 2003). However, frequently, case numbers have been limited (Flodin et al. 2003; Landtblom et al. 2006; Stenager et al. 2003; Landtblom et al. 2006). In 2013, two large Swedish population-based case–control studies found that occupational exposure to anesthetic agents has no impact on MS risk (Hedström et al. 2013b).

11 Cytomegalovirus

Cytomegalovirus from the Herpesviridae family is a common virus with a seroprevalence ranging from 45 to 100 % worldwide (Cannon et al. 2010). Several studies on the association between CMV and MS risk have been carried out, most of which have rendered nonsignificant results (Banwell et al. 2007; Mowry et al. 2011; Zivadinov et al. 2006). Recently, a negative association between CMV seropositivity and pediatric MS was demonstrated (Waubant et al. 2011). This finding was confirmed in a meta-analysis of previous studies on CMV serostatus and MS risk, and replicated in a large cohort of adult MS cases and controls (Sundqvist et al. 2014). The exact mechanisms by which different viruses affect MS etiology are still unknown, but the observed associations are interesting pieces in the puzzle to understand the disease.

12 Pregnancy and Reproductive History

The complex alteration of the immune system that takes place during pregnancy in order to avoid maternal rejection of the fetus seems to have a favorable effect on MS in terms of relapse rate. The risk of relapse is decreased during the third trimester, but increased in the postpartum period (Confavreux et al. 1998). However, possible long-term effects of childbearing patterns on MS risk have been discussed for a long time, with conflicting results (Hernán et al. 2000; Hedström et al. 2014b; Nielsen et al. 2011; Posonby et al. 2012; Runmarker and Andersen 1995; Villard-Mackintosh and Vessey 1993).

A register-based Danish cohort study, comprising 4.4 million Danish men and women, showed that parity, number of children, age at first childbirth, and time since birth of the most recent child affected the risk of developing MS. However, the observed differences in childbearing patterns were restricted to the 5 years before MS diagnosis, and almost identical results were observed for men and women (Nielsen et al. 2011). This speaks in favor of reversed causality being a possible explanation to an inverse association between parity and MS risk. The findings were replicated in a large population-based case–control study in Sweden (Hedström et al. 2014b). A reduced reproductive activity in people with yet-undiagnosed MS would render results similar to those observed in these studies. There is evidence that autoimmune mechanisms may influence the reproductive life and fertility of both sexes (Carp et al. 2012; Ballester et al. 2004; Geva et al. 2004; Kay and Bash 1965; Nelson et al. 1993; Silman and Black 1988). Similarly, subtle symptoms or depressive symptoms that can precede the onset of neurological symptoms could affect the desire to become a parent (Gout et al. 2011; Vattakatuchery et al. 2011).

13 Gene–Environment Interactions

MS is a complex disorder in which environmental exposures operating at different time points trigger disease onset in genetically susceptible individuals. Genetic susceptibility to MS is mainly located within the MHC region (Ascherio and Munger 2007a; Brynedal et al. 2007; Gale and Martyn 1995; Lincoln et al. 2005), but several other non-MHC genetic loci have been observed to confer a less pronounced influence on MS risk (Bergamaschi et al. 2010; Burfoot et al. 2008).

A large number of studies have investigated the presence of interactions between genes and environmental factors in MS development.

Data from several studies suggest that HLA status and either IM or high anti-EBV titers synergistically increase the risk of MS (Disanto et al. 2013a, b; Sundqvist et al. 2011). In the largest study on this topic, individuals who were positive for HLA-DRB1*15, negative for HLA-A*02, and with high EBNA:385-420 titers had a 16-fold higher risk for MS than those who did not carry any of these factors (Disanto et al. 2013a, b). Similar findings have been found when smoking rather than EBV titers are considered, with a 13-fold increased risk among HLA-DRB1*15 positive, HLA-A*02 negative smokers as compared to those who did not carry any of these factors (Hedström et al. 2011c) (Table 1). This concept is supported by the finding of an interaction between smoking, HLA-DRB1*01, and autoimmunity to posttranslationally modified proteins with regard to rheumatoid arthritis (Klareskog et al. 2006). CD4+ T cells are activated after seeing its antigen presented by class II molecules. The spectrum of peptides presented by class II

Lifestyle/ environmental factor	Odds ratio	Interaction with HLA genes	Odds ratio combined	References
EBV serology	~13.5	+	~16	Ascherio et al. (2001)
Mononucleosis	~2.3	+	~7	Thacker et al. (2006), Levin et al. (2010), Handel et al. (2010)
Lack of sun exposure	~2	-	No effect	Islam et al. (2007), Kampman et al. (2007), van der Mei et al. (2003), Bäärnhielm et al. (2012)
Vitamin D < 50	~1.4	-	No effect	Ascherio and Munger (2007a, b), Smolders et al. (2008)
Active smoking	~1.6	+	~ 14	Pekmezovic at al. (2006), Hernan et al. (2001), Riise et al. (2003), Ghadirian et al. (2001), Hedström et al. (2009), Hedström et al. (2013a, b)
Passive smoking	1.3–1.6	+	~6	Hedström et al. (2011a, b, c)
Snuff use	0.5-0.9	-	-	Hedström et al. (2014a, b)
Alcohol	0.6	-	-	Mehta (2010)
Adolescent obesity	~2	+	~15	Munger et al. (2009), Hedström et al. (2012)
Shift work before age 20	~1.7	-	No effect	Hedström et al. (2011a, b, c)
Organic solvents	~1.5	Unknown		Barragán-Martínez et al. (2012)
CMV serology	0.7	_	No effect	Waubant et al. (2011), Sundqvist et al. (2014)

Table 1 Lifestyle/environmental factors in MS development

molecules is determined by the shape of the antigen binding cleft, in turn determined by the genetic sequence as reflected by the HLA allele nomenclature. With the two different autoimmune conditions triggered by smoking, but with different class II molecules, it points to T-cell activation as being critical, in turn leading to activation of T cells with different organ specificities.

14 Conclusions

Studies on how environmental factors influence MS risk are associated with several methodological and practical problems. The two major methods, population-based case–control studies and cohort studies, have provided the majority of our current knowledge on environmental factors in MS. Case–control studies in MS are generally better powered and can provide quantification of the magnitude of effect of the environmental exposures. The drawback is the risk of bias in recruitment of cases and recall bias in responses from cases with MS compared with controls. Thus, the best case–control studies are those that are carried out in newly diagnosed patients and in which both cases and controls are recruited from the same defined study population. Cohort studies are usually less subject to both these biases but often have a low power in uncommon diseases such as MS, particularly when there is a long follow-up period. In these cases, the associations between environmental exposures and MS often are underestimated, unless environmental conditions have been repeatedly measured. Optimally, results from the two approaches should be combined.

Advances in our understanding of environmental risk factors can lead to avenues of research exploring how these factors may play a role in the pathogenesis of the disease. It has become increasingly clear that the risk conveyed by an environmental factor may substantially differ depending on genetic background. In future studies, it is necessary not to study environmental risk factors for MS in isolation since interactions with both other environmental influences and an individual's genetic background are likely to contribute to MS development.

Acknowledgments The authors of this chapter have received MS research grant support from The Swedish research council, The Swedish Council for Health, Working Life and Welfare, The Swedish Brain foundation, The AFA foundation, The Swedish foundation for strategic research, and Knut and Alice Wallenbergs Foundation.

References

- Adzemovic MZ, Zeitelhofer M, Hochmeister S, Gustafsson SA, Jagodic M (2013) Efficacy of vitamin D in treating multiple sclerosis-like neuroinflammation depends on developmental stage. Exp Neurol 249:39–48
- Antonovsky A, Leibowitz U, Smith MA, Medalie JM, Balogh M, Kats R, Halpern L, Alter M (1965) Epidemiologic study of multiple sclerosis in Israel. An overall review of methods and findings. Arch Neurol 13:183–193

Arendt J (2010) Shift work: coping with the biological clock. Occup Med (Lond) 60:10-20

- Ascherio A, Munger KL (2007a) Environmental risk factors for multiple sclerosis. Part I: the role of infection. Ann Neurol 61(4):288–299
- Ascherio A, Munger KL (2007b) Environmental risk factors for multiple sclerosis. Part II: noninfectious factors. Ann Neurol 61(6):504–513
- Ascherio A, Munger KL, Lennette ET, Spiegelman D, Hernan MA, Olek MJ, Hankinson SE, Hunter DJ (2001) Epstein–Barr virus antibodies and risk of multiple sclerosis: a prospective study. J Am Med Assoc 286:3083–3088
- Australia and New Zealand Multiple Sclerosis Genetics Consortium (ANZgene) (2012) Genomewide association study identifies new multiple sclerosis susceptibility loci on chromosomes 12 and 20. Nat Genet 21:824–828
- Bäärnhielm M, Hedström AK, Kockum I, Sundqvist E, Gustafsson SA, Hilliert J, Olsson T, Alfredsson L (2012) Sunlight is associated with decreased multiple sclerosis risk: no interaction with human leukocyte antigen-DRB1*15. Euro J Neurol 19:955–962
- Ballester J, Muñoz MC, Domínguez J, Rigau T, Guinovart JJ, Rodríguez-Gil JE (2004) Insulindependent diabetes affects testicular function by FSH-and LH-linked mechanisms. J Androl 25 (5):706–719
- Banwell B, Krupp L, Kennedy J, Tellier R, Tenembaum S, Ness J, Belman A, Boiko A, Bykova O, Waubant E, Mah JK, Stoian C, Kremenchutzky M, Bardini MR, Ruggieri M, Rensel M, Hahn J, Weinstock-Guttman B, Yeh EA, Farrell K, Freedman M, Iivanainen M, Sevon M, Bhan V, Dilenge ME, Stephens D, Bar-Or A (2007) Clinical features and viral serologies in children with multiple sclerosis: a multinational observational study. Lancet Neurol 6(9):773–781
- Barragán-Martínez C, Speck-Hernández CA, Montoya-Ortiz G, Mantilla RD, Anaya JM, Rojas-Villarraga A (2012) Organic solvents as risk factor for autoimmune diseases: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One 7(12):e51506
- Becklund BR, Severson KS, Vang SV, DeLuca HF (2010) UV radiation suppresses experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis independent of vitamin D production. Proc Nat Acad Sci USA 107:6418–6423
- Bergamaschi L, Leone MA, Fasano ME, Guerini FR, Ferrante D, Bolognesi E, Barizzone N, Corrado L, Naldi P, Agliardi C, Dametto E, Salvetti M, Visconti A, Galimberti D, Scarpini E, Vercellino M, Bergamaschi R, Monaco F, Caputo D, Momigliano-Richiardi P, D'Alfonso S (2010) HLA-class I markers and multiple sclerosis susceptibility in the Italian population. Genes Immun 11(2):173–180
- Bermudez EA, Rifai N, Buring JE, Manson JE, Ridker PM (2002) Relation between markers of systemic vascular inflammation and smoking in women. Am J Cardiol 89(9):1117–1119
- Bollinger T, Bollinger A, Oster H, Solbach W (2010) Sleep, immunity, and circadian clocks: a mechanistic model. Gerontology 56:574–580
- Breuer J, Schwab N, Schneider-Hohendorf T, Marziniak M, Mohan H, Bhatia U, Gross CC, Clausen BE, Weishaupt C, Luger TA, Meuth SG, Loser K, Wiendl H (2014) UVB light attenuates the systemic immune response in CNS autoimmunity. Ann Neurol 75(5):739–758
- Brosseau L, Philippe P, Méthot G, Duquette P, Haraoui B (1993) Drug abuse a risk factor for multiple sclerosis: case-control analysis and a study of heterogeneity. Neuroepidemiology 12 (1):6–14
- Brynedal B, Duvefelt K, Jonasdottir G, Roos IM, Akesson E, Palmgren J, Hillert J (2007) HLA-A confers an HLA-DRB1 independent influence on the risk of multiple sclerosis. PloS One 2: e664
- Burfoot RK, Jensen CJ, Field J, Stankovich J, Varney MD, Johnson LJ, Butzkueven H, Booth D, Bahlo M, Tait BD, Taylor BV, Speed TP, Heard R, Stewart GJ, Foote SJ, Kilpatrick TJ, Rubio JP (2008) SNP mapping and candidate gene sequencing in the class I region of the HLA complex: searching for multiple sclerosis susceptibility genes in Tasmanians. Tissue Antigens 71(1):42–50
- Burrell AM, Handel AE, Ramagopalan SV, Ebers GC, Morahan JM (2011) Epigenetic mechanisms in multiple sclerosis and the major histocompatibility complex (MHC). Discov Med 11(58):187–196

- Cai P, König R, Boor PJ, Kondraganti S, Kaphalia BS, Khan MF, Ansari GA (2008) Chronic exposure to trichloroethene causes early onset of SLE-like disease in female MRL +/+ mice. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 228:68–75
- Cannon MJ, Schmid DS, Hyde TB (2010) Review of cytomegalovirus seroprevalence and demographic characteristics associated with infection. Rev Med Virol 20:202–213
- Carlens C, Hergens MP, Grunewald J, Ekbom A, Eklund A, Höglund CO, Askling J (2010) Smoking, use of moist snuff, and risk of chronic inflammatory diseases. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 181(11):1217–1222
- Carp HJ, Selmi C, Shoenfeld Y (2012) The autoimmune bases of infertility and pregnancy loss. J Autoimmun 38:266–274
- Cloos PA, Christgau S (2004) Post-translational modifications of proteins: implications for aging, antigen recognition, and autoimmunity. Biogerontology 5:139–158
- Confavreux C, Hutchinson M, Hours MM, Cortinovis-Tourniaire P, Moreau T (1998) Pregnancy in multiple sclerosis group. Rate of pregnancy-related relapse in multiple sclerosis. New Engl J Med 339:285–291
- DeLorenze GN, Munger KL, Lennette ET, Orentreich N, Vogelman JH, Ascherio A (2006) Epstein–Barr virus and multiple sclerosis: evidence of association from a prospective study with long-term follow-up. Arch Neurol 63:839–844
- Disanto G, Sandve GK, Berlanga-Taylor AJ, Ragnedda G, Morahan JM, Watson CT, Giovannoni G, Ebers GC, Ramagopalan SV (2012) Vitamin D receptor binding, chromatin states and association with multiple sclerosis. Hum Mol Genet 21:3575–3586
- Disanto G, Pakpoor J, Morahan JM, Hall C, Meier UC, Giovannoni G, Ramagopalan SV (2013a) Epstein–Barr virus, latitude and multiple sclerosis. Multiple Scler 19:362–365
- Disanto G, Hall C, Lucas R, Ponsonby AL, Berlanga-Taylor AJ, Giovannoni G, Ramagopalan SV, Ausimmune Investigator Group (2013b) Assessing interactions between HLA-DRB1*15 and infectious mononucleosis on the risk of multiple sclerosis. Multiple Scler 19:1355–1358
- Doyle HA, Mamula MJ (2002) Posttranslational protein modifications: new flavors in the menu of autoantigens. Curr Opin Rheumatol 14:244–249
- Ebers GC (2008) Environmental factors and multiple sclerosis. Lancet Neurol 7:268-277
- Feltens R, Mögel I, Röder-Stolinski C, Simon JC, Herberth G, Lehmann I (2010) Chlorobenzene induces oxidative stress in human lung epithelial cells in vitro. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 242 (1):100–108
- Fiddes B, Wason J, Kemppinen A, Ban M, Compston A, Sawcer S (2013) Confounding underlies the apparent month of birth effect in multiple sclerosis. Ann Neurol 73(6):714–720
- Flodin U, Landtblom AM, Axelsson O (2003) Multiple sclerosis in nurse anaesthetists. Occup Environ Med 60(1):66–68
- Freeman AG (1988) Optic neuropathy and chronic cyanide intoxication: a review. J Roy Soc Med 81:103–106
- Gale CR, Martyn CN (1995) Migrant studies in multiple sclerosis. Prog Neurobiol 47:425-448
- Geva E, Lerner-Geva L, Burke M, Vardinon N, Lessing JB, Amit A (2004) Undiagnosed systemic lupus erythematosus in a cohort of infertile women. Am J Reprod Immunol 51(5):336–340
- Ghadirian P, Dadgostar B, Azani R, Maisonneuve P (2001) A case-control study of the association between socio-demographic, lifestyle and medical history factors and multiple sclerosis. Can J Public Health 92(9):281–285
- Goral J, Karavitis J, Kovacs EJ (2008) Exposure-dependent effects of ethanol on the innate immune system. Alcohol 42:237–247
- Gout O, Lebrun-Frenay C, Labauge P, Le Page GE, Clavelou P, Allouche S, PEDIAS Group (2011) Prior suggestive symptoms in one-third of patients consulting for a "first" demyelinating event. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 82:323–325
- Handel AE, Williamson AJ, Disanto G, Handunnetthi L, Giovannoni G, Ramagopalan SV (2010) An updated meta-analysis of risk of multiple sclerosis following infectious mononucleosis. PLoS One 5(9):e12496
- Handunnetthi L, Ramagopalan SV, Ebers GC (2010) Multiple sclerosis, vitamin D, and HLA-DRB1*15. Neurology 74:1905–1910

- Hedström AK, Bäärnhielm M, Olsson T, Alfredsson L (2009) Tobacco smoking, but not Swedish snuff use, increases the risk of multiple sclerosis. Neurology 73(9):696–701
- Hedström AK, Åkerstedt T, Hillert J, Olsson T, Alfredsson L (2011a) Shift work at young age is associated with increased risk for multiple sclerosis. Ann Neurol 70:733–734
- Hedström AK, Bäärnhielm M, Olsson T, Alfredsson L (2011b) Exposure to environmental tobacco smoke is associated with increased risk for multiple sclerosis. Multiple Scler 17:788–793
- Hedström AK, Sundqvist E, Bäärnhielm M, Nordin N, Hillert J, Kockum I, Olsson T, Alfredsson L (2011c) Smoking and two human leukocyte antigen genes interact to increase the risk for multiple sclerosis. Brain 134:653–664
- Hedström AK, Olsson T, Alfredsson L (2012) High body mass index before age 20 is associated with increased risk for multiple sclerosis in both men and women. Multiple Scler 18: 1334–1336
- Hedström AK, Hillert J, Olsson T, Alfredsson L (2013a) Smoking and multiple sclerosis susceptibility. Euro J Epidemiol 28:867–874
- Hedström AK, Hillert J, Olsson T, Alfredsson L (2013b) Exposure to anaesthetic agents does not affect multiple sclerosis risk. Euro J Neurol 20:735–739
- Hedström AK, Hillert J, Olsson T, Alfredsson L (2014a) Alcohol as a modifiable lifestyle factor affecting multiple sclerosis risk. J Am Med Assoc Neurol 71:300–305
- Hedström AK, Hillert J, Olsson T, Alfredsson L (2014b) Reverse causality behind the association between reproductive history and MS. Multiple Scler 20:406–411
- Hernan MA, Olek MJ, Ascherio A (2001) Cigarette smoking and incidence of multiple sclerosis. Am J Epidemiol 154(1):69–74
- Hernán MA, Hohol MJ, Olek MJ, Spiegelman D, Ascherio A (2000) Oral contraceptives and the incidence of multiple sclerosis. Neurology 55(6):848–854
- International Multiple Sclerosis Genetics Consortium (2013) Analysis of immune-related loci identifies 48 new susceptibility variants of multiple sclerosis. Nat Genet 45:1353–1360
- International Multiple Sclerosis Genetics Consortium; Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium 2 (2011) Genetic risk and a primary role for cell-mediated immune mechanisms in multiple sclerosis. Nature 476:214–219
- Islam T, Gauderman WJ, Cozen W, Mack TM (2007) Childhood sun exposure influences risk of multiple sclerosis in monozygotic twins. Neurology 69:381–388
- Källberg H, Jacobsen S, Bengtsson C, Pedersen M, Padyukov L, Garred P, Frisch M, Karlson EW, Klareskog L, Alfredsson L (2009) Alcohol consumption is associated with decreased risk of rheumatoid arthritis: results from two Scandinavian case-control studies. Ann Rheum Dis 68:222–227
- Kampman MT, Wilsgaard T, Mellgren SI (2007) Outdoor activities and diet in childhood and adolescence relate to MS risk above the Arctic circle. J Neurol 254:471–477
- Kay A, Bash F (1965) Subfertility before and after development of rheumatoid arthritis in women. Ann Rheum Dis 24:169–173
- Kim JH, Moon JY, Park EY, Lee KH, Hong YC (2011) Changes in oxidative stress biomarker and gene expression levels in workers exposed to volatile organic compounds. Ind Health 49:8–14
- Klareskog L, Stolt P, Lundberg K, Källberg H, Bengtsson C, Grunewald J, Rönnelid J, Harris HE, Ulfgren AK, Rantapää-Dahlqvist S, Eklund A, Padyukov L, Alfredsson L (2006) A new model for an etiology of RA; Smoking may trigger HLA-DR (SE)-restricted immune reactions to autoantigens modified by citrullination. Arthritis Rheum 54(1):38–46
- Koch-Henriksen N, Sorensen PS (2010) The changing demographic pattern of multiple sclerosis epidemiology. Lancet Neurol 9:520–532
- Landtblom AM, Tondel M, Hjalmarsson P, Flodin U, Axelson O (2006) The risk for multiple sclerosis in female nurse anaesthetists: a register based study. Occup Environ Med 63:387–389
- Lawrence T, Aveyard P, Croghan E (2003) What happens to women's self-reported cigarette consumption and urinary cotinine levels in pregnancy? Addiction 98(9):1315–1320
- Levin LI, Munger KL, O'Reilly EJ, Falk KI, Ascherio A (2010) Primary infection with the Epstein-Barr virus and risk of multiple sclerosis. Ann Neurol 67:824–830

- Lincoln MR, Montpetit A, Cader MZ, Saarela J, Dyment DA, Tiislar M, Ferretti V, Tienari PJ, Sadovnick AD, Peltonen L, Ebers GC, Hudson TJ (2005) A predominant role for the HLA class II region in the association of the MHC region with multiple sclerosis. Nat Genet 37:1108–1112
- Lindqvist R, Lendahls L, Tollbom Ö, Aberg H, Håkansson A (2002) Smoking during pregnancy: comparison of self-reports and cotinine levels in 496 women. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 81:240–244
- Lossius A, Riise T, Pugliatti M, Bjørnevik K, Casetta I, Drulovic J, Granieri E, Kampman MT, Landtblom AM, Lauer K, Magalhaes S, Myhr KM, Pekmezovic T, Wesnes K, Wolfson C, Holmøy T (2014) Season of infectious mononucleosis and risk of multiple sclerosis at different latitudes; the EnvIMS study. Multiple Scler 20:669–674
- Lucas RM, Ponsonby A-L (2006) Considering the potential benefits as well as adverse effects of sun exposure: can all the potential benefits be provided by oral vitamin D supplementation? Prog Biophys Mol Biol 92:140–149
- Lumeng CN, Deyoung SM, Bodzin JL, Saltiel AR (2007) Increased inflammatory properties of adipose tissue macrophages recruited during diet induced obesity. Diabetes 56:16–23
- Makrygiannakis D, Hermansson M, Ulfgren AK, Nicholas AP, Zendman AJ, Eklund A, Grunewald J, Skold CM, Klareskog L, Catrina AI (2008) Smoking increases peptidylarginine deiminase 2 enzyme expression in human lungs and increases citrullination in BAL cells. Ann Rheum Dis 67:1488–1492
- Massa J, O'Reilly E, Munger K, Ascherio A (2013) Caffeine and alcohol intakes have no association with risk of multiple sclerosis. Multiple Scler 19:53–58
- Matarese G, Procaccini C, De Rosa V (2008) The intricate interface between immune and metabolic regulation: a role for leptin in the pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis? J Leukoc Biol 84:893–899
- Mehta BK (2010) New hypotheses on sunlight and the geographic variability of multiple sclerosis prevalence. J Neurol Sci 292:5–10
- Mikaeloff Y, Caridade G, Tardieu M, Suissa S (2007) Parental smoking at home and the risk of childhood-onset multiple sclerosis in children. Brain 130:2589–2595
- Mögel I, Baumann S, Böhme A, Kohajda T, von Bergen M, Simon JC, Lehmann I (2011) The aromatic volatile organic compounds toluene, benzene and styrene induce COX-2 and prostaglandins in human lung epithelial cells via oxidative stress and p38 MAPK activation. Toxicology 289:28–37
- Montgomery SM, Bahmanyar S, Hillert J, Ekbom A, Olsson T (2008) Maternal smoking during pregnancy and multiple sclerosis amongst offspring. Euro J Neurol 15:1395–1399
- Moszczyński P, Zabiński Z, Moszczyński P, Rutowski J Jr, Słowiński S, Tabarowski Z (2001) Immunological findings in cigarette smokers. Toxicol Lett 18:121–127
- Mowry EM, James JA, Krupp LB, Waubant E (2011) Vitamin D status and antibody levels to common viruses in pediatric-onset multiple sclerosis. Multiple Scler 17:666–671
- Munger KL, Chitnis T, Ascherio A (2009) Body size and risk of MS in two cohorts of US women. Neurology 73:1543–1550
- Munger KL, Bentzen J, Laursen B, Stenager E, Koch-Henriksen N, Sørensen TI, Baker JL (2013) Childhood body mass index and multiple sclerosis risk: a long-term cohort study. Multiple Scler 19(10):1323–1329
- Nelson JL, Koepsell TD, Dugowson CE, Voigt LF, Daling JR, Hansen JA (1993) Fecundity before disease onset in women with rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 36:7–14
- Nielsen TR, Rostgaard K, Nielsen NM, Koch-Henriksen N, Haahr S, Sørensen PS, Hjalgrim H (2007) Multiple sclerosis after infectious mononucleosis. Arch Neurol 64:72–75
- Nielsen TR, Rostgaard K, Nielsen NM, Koch-Henriksen N, Haahr S, Sørensen PS, Hjalgrim H (2011) Reproductive history and risk of multiple sclerosis. Epidemiology 22:546–552
- Nizri E, Irony-Tur-Sinai M, Lory O, Orr-Urtreger A, Lavi E, Brenner T (2009) Activation of the cholinergic anti-inflammatory system by nicotine attenuates neuroinflammation via suppression of Th1 and Th17 responses. J Immunol 183:6681–6688

- Odoardi F, Sie C, Streyl K, Ulaganathan VK, Schläger C, Lodygin D, Heckelsmiller K, Nietfeld W, Ellwart J, Klinkert WE, Lottaz C, Nosov M, Brinkmann V, Spang R, Lehrach H, Vingron M, Wekerle H, Flügel-Koch C, Flügel A (2012) T cells become licensed in the lung to enter the central nervous system. Nature 488:675–679
- O'Gorman C, Lucas R, Taylor B (2012) A review with a focus on molecular mechanisms. Int J Mol Sci 13(9):11718–11752
- Pekmezovic T, Drulovic J, Milenkovic M, Jarebinski M, Stojsavljevic N, Mesaros S, Kisic D, Kostic J (2006) Lifestyle factors and multiple sclerosis: a case-control study in Belgrade. Neuroepidemiology 27:212–216
- Ponsonby AL, Lucas RM, van der Mei IA, Dear K, Valery PC, Pender MP, Taylor BV, Kilpatrick TJ, Coulthard A, Chapman C, Williams D, McMichael AJ, Dwyer T (2012) Offspring number, pregnancy, and risk of a first clinical demyelinating event: the AusImmune study. Neurology 78:867–874
- Ramagopalan SV, Heger A, Berlanga AJ, Maugeri NJ, Lincoln MR, Burrell A, Handunnetthi L, Handel AE, Disanto G, Orton SM, Watson CT, Morahan JM, Giovannoni G, Ponting CP, Ebers GC, Knight JC (2010) A ChIP-seq defined genome-wide map of vitamin D receptor binding: associations with disease and evolution. Genome Res 20:1352–1360
- Ramagopalan SV, Lee JD, Yee IM, Guimond C, Traboulsee AL, Ebers GC, Sadovnick AD (2013) Association of smoking with risk of multiple sclerosis: a population-based study. J Neurol 260:1778–1781
- Redford EJ, Kapoor R, Smith KJ (1997) Nitric oxide donors reversibly block axonal conduction: demyelinated axons are especially susceptible. Brain 120:2149–2157
- Riise T, Nortvedt MW, Ascherio A (2003) Smoking is a risk factor for multiple sclerosis. Neurology 61:1122–1124
- Romeo J, Wärnberg J, Nova E, Díaz LE, Gómez-Martinez S, Marcos A (2007) Moderate alcohol consumption and the immune system: a review. Br J Nutr 98(1):S111–S115
- Runmarker B, Andersen O (1995) Pregnancy is associated with a lower risk of onset and a better prognosis in multiple sclerosis. Brain 118:253–261
- Silman AJ, Black C (1988) Increased incidence of spontaneous abortion and infertility in women with scleroderma before disease onset: a controlled study. Ann Rheum Dis 47:441–444
- Simpson CA, Newell DJ, Schapira K (1966) Smoking and multiple sclerosis. Neurology 16: 1041–1043
- Simpson S Jr, Blizzard L, Otahal P, Van der Mei I, Taylor B (2011) Latitude is significantly associated with the prevalence of multiple sclerosis: a meta-analysis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 82:1132–1141
- Smith KJ, Kapoor R, Hall SM, Davies M (2001) Electrically active axons degenerate when exposed to nitric oxide. Ann Neurol 49:470–476
- Smolders J, Damoiseaux J, Menheere P, Hupperts R (2008) Vitamin D as an immune modulator in multiple sclerosis, a review. J Neuroimmunol 194:7–17
- Stenager E, Brönnum-Hansen H, Koch-Henriksen N (2003) Risk of multiple sclerosis in nurse anaesthetists. Multiple Scler 9:427–428
- Subramanian V, Ferrante AW (2009) Obesity, inflammation, and macrophages. Nestle Nutr Workshop Ser: Pediatr Prog 63:151–159
- Sundqvist E, Bäärnhielm M, Alfredsson L, Hillert J, Olsson T, Kockum I (2010) Confirmation of association between multiple sclerosis and CYP27B1. Euro J Hum Genet 18:1349–1352
- Sundqvist E, Sundström P, Lindén M, Hedström AK, Aloisi F, Hillert J, Kockum I, Alfredsson L, Olsson T (2011) Epstein-Barr virus and multiple sclerosis: interaction with HLA. Genes Immun 13:14–20
- Sundqvist E, Bergström T, Daialhosein H, Nyström M, Sundström P, Hillert J, Alfredsson L, Kockum I, Olsson T (2014) Cytomegalovirus seropositivity is negatively associated with multiple sclerosis. Multiple Scler 20:165–173
- Sundström P, Juto P, Wadell G, Hallmans G, Svenningsson A, Nyström L, Dillner J, Forsgren L (2004) An altered immune response to Epstein-Barr virus in multiple sclerosis: a prospective study. Neurology 62:2277–2282

- Sundström P, Nyström L, Hallmans G (2008) Smoke exposure increases the risk for multiple sclerosis. Euro J Neurol 15:579–583
- Thacker EL, Mirzaei F, Ascherio A (2006) Infectious mononucleosis and risk for multiple sclerosis: a meta-analysis. Ann Neurol 59:499–503
- Ueda P, Rafatnia F, Bäärnhielm M, Fröbom R, Korzunowicz G, Lönnerbro R, Hedström AK, Eyles D, Olsson T, Alfredsson L (2014) Neonatal vitamin D status and risk of multiple sclerosis. Ann Neurol 76(3):338–346
- Ulloa L (2005) The vagus nerve and the nicotinic anti-inflammatory pathway. Nat Rev Drug Dis 4:673–684
- van der Mei IA, Ponsonby AL, Dwyer T, Blizzard L, Simmons R, Taylor BV, Butzkueven H, Kilpatrick T (2003) Past exposure to sun, skin phenotype, and risk of multiple sclerosis: casecontrol study. Br Med J 327:316–321
- van Houten WH, Friede R (1961) Histochemical studies of experimental demyelination produced with cyanide. Exp Neurol 4:402–412
- Vattakatuchery JJ, Rickards H, Cavanna AE (2011) Pathogenic mechanisms of depression in multiple sclerosis. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 23:261–276
- Villard-Mackintosh L, Vessey MP (1993) Oral contraceptives and reproductive factors in multiple sclerosis incidence. Contraception 47:161–168
- Wang G, König R, Ansasri GA, Khan MF (2008) Lipid peroxidation-derived aldehyde-protein adducts contribute to trichloroethene-mediated autoimmunity via activation of CD4⁺ T cells. Free Radical Biol Med 44:1475–1482
- Waubant E, Mowry EM, Krupp L, Chitnis T, Yeh EA, Kuntz N, Ness J, Chabas D, Strober J, McDonald J, Belman A, Milazzo M, Gorman M, Weinstock-Guttman B, Rodriguez M, Oksenberg JR, James JA, US Pediatric MS Network (2011) Common viruses associated with lower pediatric multiple sclerosis risk. Neurology 76:1989–1995
- Westerlind H, Ramanujam R, Uvehag D, Kuja-Halkola R, Boman M, Bottai M, Lichtenstein P, Hillert J (2014) Modest familial risks for multiple sclerosis: a registry-based study of the population of Sweden. Brain 137:770–778
- Willer CJ, Dyment DA, Sadovnick AD, Rothwell PM, Murray TJ, Ebers GC, Canadian Collaborative Study Group (2005) Timing of birth and risk of multiple sclerosis: a population based study. Br Med J 330:120–124
- Wortsman J, Matsuoka LY, Chen TC, Lu Z, Holick MF (2000) Decreased bioavailability of vitamin D in obesity. Am J Clin Nutr 72:690–693
- Zivadinov R, Nasuelli D, Tommasi MA, Serafin M, Bratina A, Ukmar M, Pirko I, Johnson AJ, Furlan C, Pozzi-Mucelli RS, Monti-Bragadin L, Grop A, Zambon M, Antonello RM, Cazzato G, Zorzon M (2006) Positivity of cytomegalovirus antibodies predicts a better clinical and radiological outcome in multiple sclerosis patients. Neurol Res 28:262–269